No. 314090

#### COURT OF APPEALS FOR DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

BRUCE M. BEATTY,

Appellant,

V.

WASHINGTON FISH & WILDLIFE COMMISSION, et al.,

Respondents,

BRUCE M. BEATTY'S AMENDED OPENING BRIEF

James L. Buchal, WSB #31369 MURPHY & BUCHAL LLP 3425 S.E. Yamhill Street, Suite 100 Portland, OR 97214

Tel: 503-227-1011 Fax: 503-573-1939 Attorney for Appellant



No. 314090

#### COURT OF APPEALS FOR DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

BRUCE M. BEATTY,

Appellant,

V.

WASHINGTON FISH & WILDLIFE COMMISSION, et al.,

Respondents,

BRUCE M. BEATTY'S AMENDED OPENING BRIEF

James L. Buchal, WSB #31369 MURPHY & BUCHAL LLP 3425 S.E. Yamhill Street, Suite 100 Portland, OR 97214

#### Introduction

This is an appeal of a decision of the Superior Court of Kittitas County upholding the Pollution Control Hearing Board's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order concerning a hydraulic permitting decision by the Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife. Appellant sought to exercise federal statutory rights on federal land to prospect and mine using a suction dredge to pump small quantities of material from the bottom of the stream, run it over a "riffle" to remove gold, and returning the balance of the dredged material to the stream. Appellant had participated in a contentious process to develop agency rules of general application (a "Gold and Fish Pamphlet"), which had singled out "his" creek for unusual restrictions limiting mining to only two weeks a year, but provided the right to seek a variance from those restrictions by individual permit application. The Department, despite overwhelming evidence of no adverse impact to fish from Appellant's activities, refused to expand the two-week "work window". Appellant appealed to the Pollution Control Hearings Board (PCHB), which upheld the Department, and thence to the Kittitas County Superior Court, which upheld the PCHB.

#### Assignments of Error

1. The trial court erred in entering its judgment of January 7, 2013 (CP779-81<sup>1</sup>) insofar as that judgment (a) upheld the decision of the PCHB (CP780); (b) denied any constitutional infirmity in the permitting statute (CP775-76) and (c) dismissed Appellant's challenge to the Department's Mitigation Policy (CP780).

All document included in the Index to Clerk's Papers are cited as "CP\_\_\_".

- 2. The PCHB erred in upholding the Department's decision, specifically with respect to the following portions of its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order of November 30, 2012:<sup>2</sup> Findings of Fact ¶¶ 2, 6-7, 9-10 & 16-17 and Conclusions of Law ¶¶ 1, 5 & 9-17).
- The PCHB erred in both severely limiting the time of the hearing and then refusing to consider certain hearsay declarations.

### Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Does RCW Chapter 77.55 protecting fish life to the extent of requiring no risk to any single fish egg, without regard to the practical absence of any damage to fishery resources (Conclusion of Law ¶ 10)?
- 2. Were the permit conditions reasonable and not out of proportion to the impact of Appellant's proposed activity (Conclusion of Law ¶ 17) given the impact issues, including:
- (a) Does substantial evidence support the proposition that bull trout were present in Fortune Creek (Findings ¶¶ 2 & 7)?
- (b). Does substantial evidence support the finding that Appellant could not avoid appreciable damage to redds he might encounter while mining? (Findings ¶ 11-12.)
- (c). Did the PCHB err in excluding evidence that no miner had ever injured a redd? (CP140:12-13)
- (d). Was the rejection of expert testimony showing no appreciable risk supported by substantial evidence? (Findings ¶¶ 6-7, 13-15.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Item 21 in the certified Administrative Record prepared by the PCHB, and filed in Superior Court on January 27, 2012.

- (e) Was there substantial evidence to support the timing restrictions, particularly with respect to spring-spawning fish? (Findings ¶ 7)
- (f). Could evidence of infinitesimal risk be properly rejected on the ground that it related only to a rule challenge rather than not permit review? (Conclusions of Law ¶ 9 & 11-12; see also Findings ¶ 15 n.3.)
- 3. Can the Department lawfully condition permits based on impacts from future permit applications?
- 4. Can the Department lawfully ignore the requirement in its Mitigation Policy and RCW 77.55.231 that it determine the impacts of the proposed hydraulic project (Conclusion of Law ¶ 13)?
- 5. Can the Department lawfully apply its Mitigation Policy notwithstanding the Department's failure to follow procedural requirements in enacting it as a rule (CP780)?
- 6. Did the Department fail to use the least restrictive permit conditions as required by 1991 Wash. Laws Chap. 415, § 1?
- 7. Did the PCHB and trial court err in concluding that the exercise of federal property rights in mining claims on federal land did not constrain or influence the scope of state regulation in any way, because nothing short of a total ban on mining would interfere with the objectives of federal mining law (Conclusions of Law ¶ 5, ¶ 17; CP776)?
- 8. Does the statutory goal of "protection of fish life" provide constitutionally-guidance for permit writers, or did it foster unconstitutional discrimination against mining (Findings ¶¶ 16-17; Conclusions of Law ¶ 16; CP775-76)?

- 9. If the answer to Issue No. 7 is "no," should the burden of proof be reversed to sustain Departmental action because of the vagueness of the statute and the potential to contaminate decisions from collateral factors—such as the personal hostility between the Department's representatives and appellant arising during the rulemaking process (Conclusion of Law ¶ 1).
- 10. Was appellant foreclosed from obtaining any legal relief against the pervasive errors of the Department because, subsequent to the permit decision, the Department suggested that a site visit might permit at least some requested mining activity to proceed (Conclusion of Law ¶¶ 13-15)?

#### Statement of Facts and Procedural History

#### A. Regulatory and Procedural History.

Suction dredge mining has for many years been regulated under rules intended to protect to environmental and fishery interests, but up until 1987, there was no "work window" restriction at all on Fortune Creek; miners could suction dredge the Creek all year. (See CP 393:9-13.) The Department later declared that mining could not start until July 1<sup>st</sup> (see CP393:20-24) and in the next iteration of regulatory innovations which Appellant now seeks to vary, declared that the mining could not start until August 1<sup>st</sup>. This was imagined to protect common rainbow and cutthroat trout, the spring spawning fish. (CP190:5-12.)

The other end of the work window, requiring Appellant to vacate the stream after August 15<sup>th</sup>, was imagined to protect bull trout, a species formerly regarded as a pest fish but now given "threatened" status under the Federal Endangered Species Act (ESA).

(See 63 Fed. Reg. 31,647 (June 10, 1998) (ESA listing decision)). Notwithstanding the "threatened" listing, the bull trout are common enough that the Department continues to authorize fishermen to capture, kill and retain them. (See A16, at 5.3)

The current general rules that cover suction dredge mining are set forth in WAC 220-110-200, -201, -202 & -206. The general rules provide extensive protective provisions (*see*, *e.g.*, A9<sup>4</sup> at 13-15 (24 numbered rules with subparts)) which are not challenged herein. Rather, Appellant sought to expand the two-week work window in the rules by application for an individual permit, a right afforded by WAC 220-110-200(2).

Appellant submitted his permit application on January 25, 2011. (A31, at 1.) On March 1, 2011, the Department issued what they called a Hydraulic Project Approval, which refused to extend the work window. (A33.) Appellant timely appealed the decision to the PCHB. The hearing was held on October 31 and November 1, 2011, and on November 30, 2011, the Board issued its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order.

Appellant timely filed this Petition for Review on December 29, 2011, and the Superior Court issued a memorandum decision November 14, 2012 (CP773-78) and judgment on January 7, 2013 (CP757-72). This appeal followed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Fishermen are allowed to kill and keep bull trout in many water bodies throughout the State, albeit not, as far as Appellant can tell, in this Creek. The statewide regulations are available at http://wdfw.wa.gov/fishing/regulations/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "A\_\_" refers to Appellant's Exhibits before the PCHB, contained in two binders in the certified Administrative Record. "R\_\_" refers to the Department's Exhibits, contained in one binder.

#### B. The Nature of Fortune Creek.

Fortune Creek is not a creek of any recognized importance in fish production, or even recreational fishing. It is poor fish habitat, which is "typical of high gradient, high elevation, cold water streams". (CP307:18 to 231:1 (independent expert Dr. Crittenden summarizes the results of habitat surveys); see also CP180:21-24.<sup>5</sup>) The Department does not regard the area as important enough for fish production to have any idea how many fish there are or how much fishing occurs (see CP180:15-19), but will let unregulated numbers of fishing visitors kill two trout a day (CP220:5-15).

The only fish subject to special protections, which the Department thinks *might* be in Fortune Creek is bull trout (*see* CP222:19-22); they are listed under the ESA, Exhibit A28 summarized the results of surveys for the trout, which came up empty-handed. Mr. Meyer testified that he had never seen one in the Fortune Creek system (CP223:1-4), despite direct night survey experience (CP433:20 to 434:5). He did, however, think that he had "read a piece of paper that says someone found one" (CP223:10-11), which appeared to refer to the last page of Exhibit R16 (*see* R16 & CP458:5). The PCHB (Finding of Fact ¶ 2) relied upon this single page and a *draft* report, Exhibit R27, which was later summarized in A28 as "unknown what species of redd, likely bull or brook". (*See also* CP475:4 to 478:5 (on cross-examination, Mr. Meyer admits that the redds could have been brook trout).) Exhibit A28 also summarizes R16 as showing the presence of brook trout, not bull trout.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The federal government notes that preferred spawning habitat for bull trout is "low gradient streams". 63 Fed. Reg. at 31,648.

The total amount of stream bed Appellant proposed to disturb constituted a miniscule percentage of the overall watershed. As Appellant made clear in the application, he was seeking to dig in 300 lineal feet of stream over a period of five years, or about sixty feet per year. (A31, at 9; *see also* CP154:6-13.) This would typically take the form of holes in the streambed about the size of a hearing room table (*see* CP163:1-3), akin to pools in a stream.

#### C. Miners Can and Do Avoid Redds.

The case centers on the risk that Appellant might dredge into a fish nest in the gravel (called a "redd") and damage some or all of the thousands of eggs typically deposited by a spawning fish. The record reflects no evidence that any miner in the State of Washington, or indeed any other Western State, has ever actually dredged into a redd and destroyed it. Appellant testified that he has personally been dredging for ten years without ever encountering a redd. (CP134:3.) There are two primary reasons that miners do not actually injure redds: they mine in different areas than fish like to spawn, and they can stop immediately in the extraordinarily-unlikely event that the dredge uncovers a redd, because they are underwater, with their heads just inches from the dredge nozzle, and visually and closely controlling what goes into the nozzle.

#### 1. Evidence that Miners Avoid Redd Areas.

A mining expert engaged by Appellants, Mr. Thomas Kitchar, testified that miners do not typically explore for gold in the smaller gravels that fish can move with their tails to build a redd. (CP124-125; *see also* CP131:5-7 (Appellant confirms his lack of interest in such material, referring to the right hand side of A19); CP133:19-20 ("I'm not

going to hit any eggs because I avoid those areas").) The Department does not and cannot dispute that "the fish are looking for an area that has gravels that are well sorted and loose enough that they can move [the gravel] with their tails". (CP216:6-8.) However, "[g]enerally miners work on a rule of thumb, the bigger the rocks, the bigger the gold." (CP127:24-25.) This is not just the view of miners, but also the view of the National Marine Fisheries Service, which has so found in formal ESA decisionmaking concerning suction dredging. (A37, at 3.)

The PCHB agreed that miners and fish tended to focus on different areas, but found that "a conflict in use could arise" in areas with pockets of gravel behind large bounders. (Findings ¶ 6.) As set forth below, the Department has frequently issued permits simply instructing miners to stay out of such areas.

# 2. Miners Can Avoid Injury to a Redd Even If They Encounter It.

A Youtube video in the record can quickly introduce this Court to the actual mining process.<sup>6</sup> As Appellant explained, because Fortune Creek is shallow,

- "A: ... I will be lying prone on the gravels and the cobbles, and my head is right down there with the suction nozzle, visually inspecting everything that goes into that suction nozzle."
- "Q: Now, are you going to be able to -- what will happen if you pick up a rock and you find some eggs under it?"
- "A: Well, all you have to do is pull your suction nozzle away and move your equipment elsewhere."
- "Q: Isn't that, in fact, what the rules require?"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The video is posted at <a href="http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2lPYg5U4P6s">http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2lPYg5U4P6s</a>, and admitted under a stipulation that the audio and captions are not part of the record (A73).

"A: That's what the rules require, and I can quote the rule if you want or the source of it."

(CP134:15-25 (referring to WAC 220-110-202(22) ("If you observe or encounter redds, or actively spawning fish when collecting or processing aggregate, you must relocate your operations").)

Indeed, in other contexts the Department has specifically recognized and relied upon the ability of suction dredge miners to dredge without injuring fish; Appellant testified about an operation on the Columbia River where miners were asked to "come down and rescue literally thousands of coho salmon by using their suction dredges" when "a marina flushed sand and silt to the point there was approximately in some places up to 18 inches of sand and silt that were smothering these alevins[<sup>7</sup>]". (CP141:6-17.) In that context, the Department

"... called the miners in because they knew that the miners could discriminate what they were doing on the water and get rid of that sand and not injure any more fish. And, sure enough, they were able to excavate that sand off of those fishes, and the fish came swimming up, and they literally saved thousands. They didn't save every one, but the important thing is that the suction nozzle did not suck those fish out of the sand; it just removed the sand. They could stop as soon as they saw the alevins."

(CP141:18-65:3.)

All this testimony about the actual experience of miners was corroborated by testimony that miners must pay very careful attention to what is going into the vacuum hose because they had powerful incentives to do so. These incentives included that "the worst most frustrating thing that can happen is a plug-up" (CP108:12-14), which could take half an hour to clear (CP108:15-16); that failure to pay close attention could result in injuries

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> An "alevin" is a young fish still showing a yolk sac attached, sometimes called sac fry.

(CP109:5-7); that there was a need to feed material to the dredge smoothly to make it function (CP109:25 to 110:6); and, of course, the need to pay attention to find the gold itself. The PCHB agreed that miners pay "close attention to material entering the hose". (Finding of Fact ¶ 4.)

The Department's representatives countered with assertions that the eggs were "very, very tiny" and that "it's virtually impossible for oftentimes even trained biologists to sight these redds before they've been dug into". (CP280:10-13.) There is no evidence that any redd has ever been "dug into." The Department's representative also acknowledged that authorities in fact count assertedly undetectable redds *by helicopter*. (CP388:22-390:7.8)

In any event, to the extent it might be difficult to identify redds in Fortune Creek, this statement applies to redds that have been sitting for a while: "if they're young, you can find them. I mean, they really stand out". (CP319:15-16; see also CP430:9-3 (Mr. Meyer explains that redds become difficult to see after a high flow event that flattens them).) This means that miners might not be able to detect older redds of the common trout in the spring, but they can certainly see the newer redds of the fall-spawning fish.

The only specifically-protected fish (if even present) are the fall-spawning bull trout. Appellant only sought permission to mine until September 30<sup>th</sup>, so the redds, if they even existed, would be fresh and easily avoided. In all likelihood, the Rule's requirement that Appellant relocate if he moves to a location with "actively spawning fish"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The Department later attempted to distinguish Fortune Creek as a "closed canopy" system such that redds could not be seen from a helicopter (CP428:24), but the photographs show that much of the stream is not covered by trees, particularly in the lower reaches covered by the mining claims (*e.g.*, R24).

(WAC 220-110-202(22)) would avoid all problems, because in the extraordinarily unlikely event that any bull trout appeared and began to spawn, Appellant would avoid them even before any redd was built.

Moreover, the ability to detect redds is an entirely different question than the ability to detect eggs. (CP329:19 to 330:6.) As noted above, if a miner begins to dig into a redd, he can and would spot the eggs and stop. The record contains photographs and preserved samples of actual eggs are in the record to refute the notion that they are too tiny to see. They are, in fact, about the size of BBs; the Department's position amounts to stating that one cannot see "a couple hundred eggs in a very tightly concentrated area". (See CP282:20 to 283:14.) And as Appellant pointed out, the miner's head is inches away, and "when you're underwater and you have one of those snorkel masks on, everything is slightly more magnified" (CP142:25 to 143:2). Moreover, the eggs are "round, perfectly spherical;" unlike any of the other material in the streambed. (CP142:15-17.) Exhibit A49 consists of a photograph of (dyed) bait eggs lying on the streambed, which shows the contrast in shape. (A46; CP143:12-23; see also CP378:3-7 (ordinary eggs are pale orange or yellow).) While vigorously disputing Appellant's ability to minimize damage if he encountered a redd, the Department could not and did not refute the evidence that it had brought suction dredgers to rescue redds buried by sediment precisely because they could stop in time (CP141-142).

#### D. Risks of Encountering a Redd Are Miniscule.

Appellant engaged an independent consulting biologist, Dr. Robert Crittenden, who received his doctorate at the University of Washington Center for Quantitative Sci-

ences in fisheries and forestry, with special expertise in quantifying biological parameters relating to fish: "I'm essentially a fisheries biometrician." (CP285:24-25.) Dr. Crittenden presented to the Board a "back of the envelope" calculation of risk that although simple, was in some sense irrefutable, and the Department did not even attempt to refute it.

The starting point was to compare the extent of stream bed Appellant proposed to disturb with the total streambed in the system. Depending on the extent of his activities, Appellant proposed to disturb "somewhere between a 100<sup>th</sup> and 1,000<sup>th</sup>" of the length of the stream. (CP291:5; *see also* CP324:13-20.) The next step was to estimate the fraction of the streambed that contained redds, and, again, this might be between 100<sup>th</sup> and 1000<sup>th</sup> of the length of the stream. (CP292:13.)

If Appellant picked sites randomly, then the probability that he would encounter a redd would be the product of these two tiny fractions, or on the order of 1 in 10,000 and one in a million. (CP293:10.) These fractions would apply assuming that the fish and Appellant are picking locations independently. (CP293:10-15.) They are, over a wide range of assumptions explored by the Department in its cross-examination of Dr. Crittenden, "miniscule" probabilities of redd damage. (CP326:11-14.)

Moreover, as Dr. Crittenden pointed out, the process of selecting locations is not independent; they are "negatively correlated" to the extent that the miners don't tend to dredge where the redds are and the fish don't tend to spawn in the heavier materials.

(CP293:17-25.) This has a dramatic effect in terms of quantitatively decreasing the risk.

If there were a complete negative correlation, the risk would be zero, and in general, there

is what Dr. Crittenden termed "negligible risk" under any reasonable assumptions. (See CP294:1.)

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