FILED
JUNE 3, 2013
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

No. 314090

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

BRUCE M. BEATTY,

Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND WILDLIFE,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT W. FERGUSON
Attorney General

Jessica E. Fogel, WSBA No. 36846
Assistant Attorney General
James R. Schwartz, WSBA No. 20168
Senior Counsel
PO Box 40100
Olympia, WA 98504
(360) 753-6287

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

(1997). Rather, in reviewing the entire record, courts will uphold the findings even if they would have made a different finding based on their reading of the record, so long as there are sufficient facts in the record from which a reasonable person could make the same finding as the Board. *Id.*

The error of law standard requires the Court to review the Board's legal conclusions de novo. *Ames v. Health Dep't Medical Quality Health Assurance Comm'n*, 166 Wn.2d 255, 260, 208 P.3d 549 (2009).

B. The Board's Findings of Fact Are Supported by Substantial Evidence

Mr. Beatty essentially challenges four aspects of the Board's findings: (1) that bull trout are present in Fortune Creek (Finding of Fact No. 7 (CP 54-55)); (2) that his dredging in Fortune Creek can harm fish by destroying eggs in spawning nests (redds) (Finding of Fact Nos. 13, 14, and 15 (CP 58-60)); (3) that he is not skilled at detecting redds (Finding of Fact No. 11 (CP 58)); and (4) that there was no evidence that the Department's imposition of the default August 1 through August 15 work window resulted from retaliation for a prior contact between a Department employee and Mrs. Beatty (Finding of Fact No. 16 (CP 60-61)).

1. The Record Demonstrates the Presence of Bull Trout in Fortune Creek

The record supports the Board's finding regarding the presence of several fish species in Fortune Creek, including bull trout. Specifically, the Board found that species including "spring cutthroat, rainbow trout, fall brook trout, and whitefish" are known to reside in the creek and that "bull trout redds and limited numbers of bull trout have also been observed in Fortune Creek." CP 52. The Board relied on the 2000 Bull Trout Spawning Ground Surveys, conducted by the United States Fish and Wildlife Service. This survey identified 13 total bull trout redds in Fortune Creek. R-26 at 11 (*see also* A-27 at 11). Department biologist William Meyer explained the results of this October 3, 2000, survey as follows:

A It looks like they found 13 redds total. There are 11 definite redds, two probable redds and zero possible redds in Fortune Creek. And they just surveyed it this one time to find that number of redds.

CP 459 (TR 383:4-8). Mr. Meyer noted this survey was an effort to identify new areas to use as bull trout spawning ground, not a survey specifically designed to identify all existing bull trout redds. CP 458 (TR 382:20-22); *see also* R-26 at 7 and A-27 at 7 ("[Fortune Creek] was

surveyed in an effort to identify new areas to use as bull trout spawning ground index reaches in the future”).¹⁰

2. Suction Dredging Can Significantly Harm Fish Life

The Board’s findings on potential impacts from suction dredging are supported by substantial evidence. Studies on the impact of suction dredging demonstrate that it can harm fish life by destroying incubating fish eggs. R-29 at 26-28; R-30 (Executive Summary at 3 (ES-3)); R-31 at 8-9. In small streams, smaller trout generally lay eggs in areas with small gravel known as “aggregate.” CP 372 (TR 296:6-14). The trout then cover the eggs with the aggregate so the eggs and sac fry are protected beneath the surface from predators and from being washed downstream. CP 372 (TR 296:6-25). The eggs and fry develop within the interstitial spaces of aggregate below the surface of the redd. CP 378-79 (TR 302:21-303:1); CP 380 (TR 304:6-15). These interstitial spaces need to be free from silt and sediment to allow oxygen to move freely through the aggregate to the eggs and fry. CP 369 (TR 293:13-21). Suction dredges suck up large amounts of aggregate and sediment and run the materials through a sluice. CP 358 (TR 282:5-25); CP 359 (TR 283:6-11). The silt

¹⁰ Mr. Beatty’s emphasis on bull trout because of its Endangered Species Act protections is misplaced in the context of the hydraulic code. The hydraulic code requires protection for all fish life, regardless of a species’ federal protection status. Accordingly, to the extent that Exhibit A-28’s notation that the redds could have been brook trout calls into doubt the Board’s finding regarding the presence of bull trout, any error would be harmless, as the Board’s findings regarding the presence of fall spawning brook trout and whitefish have not been challenged.

and aggregate are then placed back into the stream with the heavier aggregate falling to the bottom and sediment washing downstream. CP 358 (TR 282:11-18).

The fish in Fortune Creek are generally small and produce small redds that are difficult to spot. CP 378-79 (TR 302:21-303:7). If a redd is sucked up by the dredge, the eggs and sac fry have a high mortality rate. R-29 at 26-27; R-31 at 9; CP 278-79 (TR 202-203); CP 366 (TR 290:17-21). The Board correctly described the potential impacts of suction dredging. Finding of Fact 10 explains: “The impact of running eggs through a suction dredge has been studied.” CP 57 (citing R-29 and R-31). The magnitude of the impact depends on the stage of egg development, with nearly 100 percent mortality during the very early stage of egg development. Eggs in the second stage of development are more resilient, but mortality levels rise again when the eggs develop into sac fry. Eggs surviving entrainment in a suction dredge are deposited onto the streambed and are unlikely to survive because of predation or lack of proper incubation conditions. *Id.* (citing R-29, R-31, and Meyer Testimony (CP 424-97) (TR 348-421)).

Destroying eggs in a delicate system such as Fortune Creek would significantly impact the population of fish within this creek system. CP 196 (TR 120:21-24); CP 485 (TR 409:16-18); CP 489 (TR 413:12-16

“[I]f you wiped out a few redds, you could have a dramatic effect on their population.”). The remaining eggs and fry from other redds would run the gauntlet of environmental risks that confront all fish, including predation, but with far fewer fry available to survive the gauntlet. CP 380 (TR 304:6-15); CP 483-84 (TR 407:20-408:1). Removing eggs decreases the survival rate. CP 485 (TR 409:16-18) (“No eggs in the gravel, then you don’t produce another generation.”).

Substantial evidence also demonstrates that various species of fish would likely be spawning or eggs would be incubating when Mr. Beatty sought to suction dredge in Fortune Creek.

Q Okay. So this brings me back to the question that I started off down this line with, which is how do you know that the restriction that you’re imposing on Mr. Beatty, this two weeks only in the water, is remotely related and proportionate to the impact he’s causing? [Buchal]

A Well, because he’s working during the time that we would expect redds and alevins to be incubating in the gravel, and certainly we know that suction dredging has a very significant impact on fish life.

CP 410 (TR 334:10-19).

The Board properly discounted testimony by Dr. Crittenden on behalf of Mr. Beatty that destruction of spawning redds presents only

minimal risk of harm to fish.¹¹ On cross-examination, Dr. Crittenden admitted that he had little personal knowledge of Fortune Creek other than having driven along the road near the creek.

Q So let me just confirm what I think I'm hearing.
So you have not actually set foot into the main stem of Fortune Creek? [Schwartz]

A Well, that's right, except for at the ford at the top.

...

Q So you don't have any personal knowledge about what the substrate is here other than to see it from this road?

A No, other than what I saw from the road and of course what I read in the reports that I saw

Q And you hadn't been up the north fork?

A No.

Q Or down the south fork?

A. No. I just went up the road, and that was it.

CP 305 (TR 229:6-21). The Board found that the "assumptions Dr. Crittenden made in reaching this conclusion were not based on scientific data or reliable estimates of spawning area available in Fortune Creek." (Finding of Fact No. 15 (CP 60).)

¹¹ Conclusion of Law No. 11 ("The Board concludes that the statistical approximations presented were not based on valid assumptions for Fortune Creek.") (CP 68).

On appeal, Mr. Beatty continues to argue that the risks to spawning fish from suction dredging can be reduced to simple calculations performed for the first time by Dr. Crittenden while on the stand. The Board rejected this “back of the envelope” analysis, finding it “simply too general to establish any meaningful statistical insight into the Beatty application for relief from established work windows.” *Id.* This Court should affirm the Board’s well-founded skepticism. The Board explained its reasons for rejecting Dr. Crittenden’s analysis—his lack of familiarity with the system he purports to characterize and the lack of scientific rigor associated with his analysis.

3. Mr. Beatty Is Not Skilled at Detecting Redds

Mr. Beatty testified that he could simply follow the Gold and Fish Pamphlet’s direction to relocate operations if he observes or encounters redds or actively spawning fish. He argues this requirement will ensure adequate protection for fish life while he suction dredges from May 1 through September 30. Self-enforcement was not an option in this case. Mr. Beatty testified that he has been mining for many years, but then admitted he is not skilled at identifying redds:

Q Tell me, based upon your own experience being in these creeks, what do redds usually look like?
[Schwartz]

A From what I understand, Mr. Harvester pointed some out at the stakeholder meeting [during the

rulemaking process], and they're relatively flat. A new redd will be light-colored. One that's been there for a couple of weeks will have turned dark, and they're consisting of gravel that primarily is, oh, fingernail size down to heavy sand up to small rocks. I really don't know. But that's what you see. And it's usually in a quiet area.

Q Quiet area. And do these redds vary in size?

A Well, the ones that he pointed out with the big salmon can be big, and the trout can be this big.

Q I'm just really trying to get at what you know about redds.

A That's what I know.

Q And so do the color of eggs vary, depending upon the fish or when they're laid?

A I do not know.

Q Are the eggs sitting on top of the redd or the gravel, or are they intermixed?

A It's already been testified that they're probably under the gravel. For some reason in my mind, there's one species of freshwater fish that just scatters their eggs on top of gravel, and I don't know what the species is.

...

Q Do they ever go into other types of substrate where there's not a lot of gravel?

A I don't know.

CP 164-65 (TR 88:5-89:13).¹²

The Board heard testimony indicating just how hard it is for a trained fish biologist to spot a fish redd. CP 372-73 (TR 296:6-297:7); CP 378-79 (TR 302:21-303:1); R-23.¹³ The Board heard testimony that fish may create redds in a variety of creek bottom substrates. CP 439-40 (TR 363:18-364:4); CP 441 (TR 365:1-16); CP 443-44 (TR 367:18-368:12). If the ideal aggregate is not plentiful, then fish will create redds wherever possible. CP 451 (TR 375:15-24). The Department biologist, who had actually snorkeled Fortune Creek as part of a survey team, testified “fish will often surprise you by spawning in some place that you think is unlikely.” CP 212 (TR 136:6-9). Even Mr. Beatty’s expert, Dr. Crittenden, testified that it was undeniable that it is difficult to find a redd. CP 318 (TR 242:14). The Department’s biologist described the concerns as follows:

¹² Mr. Beatty offered into evidence the declarations of numerous other people who stated they could spot a fish nest. The declarations were properly excluded based on the state’s objection because the case before the Board only involved an individual permit to Mr. Beatty. In this case, Mr. Beatty’s ability to detect fish nests is unique to his experience and observational skills. The observational skills of others are not relevant and written statements on that issue are hearsay. Evidentiary rulings will not be disturbed absent abuse of discretion. *Port of Seattle v. PCHB*, 151 Wn.2d 568, 642, 90 P.3d 659 (2004) (citing *Maehren v. City of Seattle*, 92 Wn.2d 480, 488, 599 P.2d 1255 (1979)). The Court should affirm the Board ruling excluding the declarations.

¹³ Mr. Beatty introduced a picture of a fish egg on a stream bottom. A-49. He testified that the egg was a commercial egg purchased from a store as bait and thrown into the creek specifically for the picture. CP 142 (TR 66:14-23). He acknowledged such eggs are artificially dyed. *Id.* (TR 66:21-22). The Department biologist testified that the picture did not accurately reflect spawning because an exposed egg would not survive long due to predation or other environmental factors. CP 462 (TR 386:8-387:25).

A As you can see in these vials [R-23], that once you mix the eggs with the gravels, it becomes quite difficult to see. Also these fry before they emerge, they're quite dark in color, and they're mottled. Part of that is protective coloration. These fry actually try to blend in with the gravel so they're not eaten.

CP 378-79 (TR 302:21-303:1) [Department biologist Harvester].

A So it would be very difficult to identify since it's very difficult to identify the redd; that would be almost impossible. The egg would be extremely difficult, and then once you saw it, you would already have damaged the redd. I mean, you already have exposed the eggs within the gravel. They've either gone through the dredge or, in the process of exposing them, you've exposed them to predators. But on those smaller redds, you could dredge them up and not even know it.

CP 380 (TR 304:6-15).

If Mr. Beatty makes a mistake and sucks up a redd, then the danger of destroying many fish eggs and sac fry is very real. Stopping after he disturbs the redd is too late. Accordingly, the Board's conclusion that Mr. Beatty has no experience detecting fish redds is well supported as is the Board's determination that promising to avoid redds is not a sufficient form of mitigation justifying a departure from the default work window for Fortune Creek established by regulation.

4. There Was No Evidence of Retaliation

Mr. Beatty argues that the agency refused to grant him an exception to the default work window in part because of a letter sent from

a Department manager to Mr. Beatty in January 2008. This letter apologized for an interaction between Department biologist Perry Harvester and Mr. Beatty's wife during a workshop in the rulemaking process.¹⁴ But as both the Board and the trial court concluded, the reason Mr. Beatty was denied a variance was his refusal to provide the Department with more specificity on his intended dredging operations. Mr. Harvester testified that he was not personally involved with Mr. Beatty's permit until after the decision to condition the permit was made. CP 171-72 (TR 95:15-96:2). The Board found Mr. Harvester's testimony on this point credible and found no other testimony to support active engagement by Mr. Harvester that would influence the permit conditions.¹⁵

C. The Department's Regulation of Mineral Prospecting Is Consistent With Federal Law

State regulation is preempted by federal law only in limited circumstances, none of which are present here. First, a federal law may contain an express preemption provision. *Arizona v. United States*, 132 S.

¹⁴ Mr. Harvester denied that he had a personal conflict with Mrs. Beatty and explained to the Board that he did "nothing other than asking Mrs. Beatty if she had a question, and she said she did not have a question regarding the rules, and so [he] asked her to sit down if she had no question regarding the rules." CP 204 (TR 128:16); CP 205 (TR 129:14-18).

¹⁵ Finding of Fact No. 16 (CP 60-61).

Ct. 2492, 2501 (2012). No federal law expressly preempts all state regulation of mineral prospecting.

Absent express preemption, state law may be impliedly preempted under two other circumstances. First, federal law may “occupy the field,” thereby precluding state regulation of conduct subject to exclusive federal regulation. *Id.* Such “field preemption” can be inferred either from a framework of federal regulation so pervasive that it leaves no room for state supplementation or from a federal interest so dominant that it is assumed to preclude state regulation. *Id.* Mr. Beatty does not argue field preemption, as the applicable federal laws clearly contemplate state regulation. *See, e.g.,* 30 U.S.C. § 26 (recognizing an exclusive right of possession for mining locators “so long as they comply with the laws of the United States, and with the State, territorial, and local regulations not in conflict with the laws of the United States”).

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